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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

The directors present this statement to the member of the Bank together with the audited
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

In our opinion:;

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 7 to 93 are drawn up so as to give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024, the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the financial
year ended on that date, in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore
Companies Act 1967 and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore ("FRSs");
and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Bank
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial
statements for issue.

Directors
The directors of the Bank in office at the date of this statement are as fpllows:

Andrew Lee Kok Keng, Chairman (appointed on 1 January 2024)
Lai Teck Poh

Jason Moo Yi Sin

Na Wu Beng

Tee Fong Seng (appointed on 1 January 2025)

Helen Wong Pik Kuen

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Bank a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the
Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Bank or any other body corporate, other than as disciosed in this statement.




BANK QOF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the directors holding office at the end
of the financial year had interests in shares in the Bank and its related corporations, as

follows:

/

Oversea-Chinese Banking
Corporation Limited

Ordinary shares

Andrew Lee Kok Keng

Lai Teck Poh

Jason Moo Yi Sin

Na Wu Beng

Helen Wong Pik Kuen

Options to acquire ordinary
shares under the OCBC Share
Option Scheme 2001

Andrew Lee Kok Keng

Na Wu Beng

Unvested ordinary shares
under the QCBC Deferred
Share Plan

Jason Moo Yi Sin

Na Wu Beng

Helen Wang Pik Kuen

Direct interest

535,953
1,037,412
63,242
407,001
618,702

43,512
526,143

106,854
12,373
770,742

At 1.1.2024/

Date of

528,953
1,037,412
22,506
310,927
441,608

43,512
574,111

46,033
59,774
578,330

Deemed interest
At 1.1.2024/
Date of
At 31.12.2024 appointment At 31.12.2024 appointment

Save as disclosed above, no director holding office at the end of the financial year had any
interest in shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any of its related corporations either at
the beginning of the financial year, date of appointment, or at the end of the financial year.




BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Share options

No options were granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the
Bank.

No shares were issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take
up unissued shares of the Bank.

There were no unissued shares of the Bank under option as at the end of the financial year.
Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has indicated its willingness to accept re-appointment as the
auditor of the Bank at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Bank.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Andrew Lee Keng Jason Moo Yi Sin
Director Director
Singapore

14 February 2025




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of Bank of Singapore Limited (“the
Bank”) are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967
("the Act") and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs") so as to give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024 and of the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the financial year
ended on that date.

What we have audited

The financial statements of the Bank comprise:

» the staiement of comprehensive income for the financial year ended 31 December
2024;

the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

the statement of changes in equity for the financial year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

. & 5 @

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamed is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code”} together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Directors’ Statement and MAS Notice 608 Supplementary Information included on page 94
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Qur apinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED {continued)

Other Information (continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our Knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasconable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit
the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to ligquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
50.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may inveoive collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF BANK OF SINGAPORE
LIMITED (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
canclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, fuiure events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Bank as a
basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directers regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Bank
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

F‘ricewaterhouseCoopers LL; j

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 14 February 2025




BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income 4
Net fee and commission income 5
Net trading income B
Other income
Non-interest income
Total income before operating expenses
Staff costs 7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10
Other operating expenses 8
Total operating expenses
Operating profit before allowance and
amortisation
Amartisation of intangible assets 12
Impairment of subsidiary 13
Loss allowances (charge)/write-back 18
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense 9

Profit for the year

2024 2023

US$ million US$ million

1,775 1,763
(1,254) {1,187)

521 576

325 283

219 201

4 4

548 488

1,069 1,064
(449) (442)
(39) (30)
(183) (175)

{671) (647)

398 417
(6) (6)

(8) -

(6} 3

378 414
(53) (57)
325 357

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial sltalernents.



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Net gain on debt investments at FVOCI, net of tax

tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Defined benefit plan remeasurements
Total comprehensive income for the year

# represents amounts less than US$0.5 million

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
325 357
(#) 4
#) #)
325 361

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
As af 31 December 2024

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks
Balances and placements with and loans to banks
Loans and advances to non-bank customers
Amount due from holding company

Amount due from related companies
Derivative financial instruments

Other investments

Other assets

Investment in subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposits of non-bank customers
Deposits and balances of banks
Amount due to holding company
Amount due to related companies
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

Current tax payable

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to equity holder of the Bank
Share capital

Other equity instruments

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Note

15
16
17

30
20
21
13
10
12

23

30
25

24

22
22
22

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
143 138
302 203
13,294 14,580
24,185 20,291
4 11
657 568
656 656
1,083 1,141
19 27
153 153
1 17
168 168
40,675 37,963
31,626 32,650
13 : 28
4,637 877
30 33
650 690
1,370 1,423
45 54
6 6
38,377 35,761
996 996
200 200
8 8
1,094 998
2,298 2,202
40,675 37,963

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Share

capital and

ofher equity Other Retained Total

insfrurnents reserves earnings equity

US$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million
At 1 January 2024 1,196 8 998 2,202
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 325 325
Other comprehensive income
Net gain on debt investments at FVOCI - # - (#)
Defined benefit plan remeasurements - #H - &
Total other comprehensive income - # - #
Total comprehensive income for the year - # 325 325
Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity
Distributicns to holder of perpetual capital
securities - - (10} (10)
Dividend to equity holder - - {219) (219)
Total transactions with owners - - (229) (229)
At 31 December 2024 1,196 8 1,084 2,298
At 1 January 2023 1,186 4 771 1,871
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - 357 357
Other comprehensive income
Net gains on debt investments at FVOCI - 4 - 4
Defined benefil plan remeasurements - # - @A
Total other comprehensive income - 4 - 4
Total comprehensive income for the year - 4 357 361
Transactions with owners, recorded directly
in equity
Distributions to holder of perpetual capital
securities - - (10} (10)
Dividend to equity holder - - {120} {120)
Total transactions with owners - - {(130) {130)
At 31 December 2023 1,196 8 898 2,202

# represents amounts less than US$0.5 million

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

10




BANK OF SINGAPGRE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss allowances charge/{write-back)

Impairment of subsidiary

Interest expense on lease liahilities

Expenses recognised in respect of defined benefit

obligations

Share-based compensation expense
Dividend income

Unrealised exchange difference
Income tax expense

Changes in operating assets:

Cash and balances with central banks

Balances and placements with and loans to banks
Loans and advances to non-bank customers
Amount due from holding company

Amounts due from related companies

Other investments

Other assets

Derivative financial instruments

Changes in operating liabilities:
Amaount due to holding company
Amounts due to related companies
Derivative financial instruments
Deposits of non-bank customers
Deposits and balances of banks
Other liabilities

Cash from operating activities
Income taxes paid
Net cash provided by operating activities

Note

10

18
13
25

27(ii)
26

2024 2023
US$ million  US$ million
325 357
39 30

6 8

6 3)

8 -

3 3

# #

1 1

(1) (2)

(1) (1)

53 57
439 448
(5) 18

1 83
1,290 3,623
(3,897) (3,141)
7 (4)

- 119

62 239
(89) 131
(2,631) 1,068
3,760 (940)
(3) 6
(40) g
(1,024) (276)
(15) (1)
(43) (103)
2,635 (1,305)
443 211
(66) (48)
377 163

The accormnparnying notes forrn an integral parl of these firiancial slaternents.

(N




BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment 10
Proceeds from the disposal of a subsidiary

Dividend income received

Defined benefit contributions

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid 22
Distributions to holders of perpetual capital

securities 22
Repayments of lease liabilities 25

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increasel{decrease} in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Balances and placements with and loans to banks 16

Amount due from holding company and related
companies 19

# represents amounts less than US$0.5 million

2024 2023
US$ million  US$ million
(39) (39)
- #
1 2
(3} -
(a1) 37N
(219) (120)
(10) (10)
(10) (10)
(239) (140)
97 (14)
192 208
289 192
286 186
3 6
289 192

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying financial statements.

2.1

General information

Bank of Singapore Limited (*the Bank"} is incorporated and domiciled in Singapore.
The address of the Bank's registered office is 63 Chulia Strest, #10-00 OCBC
Centre East, Singapore 049514,

The financial statements of the Bank as at and for the financia! year ended 31
December 2024 comprise the Bank’s Singapare operations, its representative office
and its overseas branches.

The Bank is principally engaged in business of banking and wealth management.
The ultimate and immediate holding company of the Bank is Oversea-Chinese
Banking Corporation Limited ("OCBC"), a company that is incorporated and
domiciled in Singapore.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs"} under the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below,

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank's
accounting policies. It also reqguires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant fo the financial
statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2024

On 1 January 2024, the Bank has adopted the new or amended FRS and
Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS3") that are mandatory for application for the
financial year. Changes to the Group's accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and
INT FRS.

The adoption of these new or amendad FRS and INT FRS did not result in
substantial changes to the Bank's accounting policies and had no material effect on
the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

13



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.1

2.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)
New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

Below is the mandatory standard, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that have been published, and are relevant for the Bank's accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 and which the Bank has not early
adopted:

FRS 118: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective for annual
repaorting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027)

FRS 118 replaces FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, introducing new
requirements that will help to achieve comparability of the financial performance of
similar entities and provide more relevant information and transparency to users.
Even though FRS 118 will not impact the recognition or measurement of items in
the financial statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are expected to
be pervasive, in particular those related to the statement of financial performance
(comprising of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income) and
providing management-defined performance measures within the financial
statements. The adoption of this new standard is not expected fo have a
material impact to the Bank's financial statements.

Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements

These financial statements are the separate financia! statements of the Bank. The
Bank is exempted from the preparation of consolidated financial statements as the
Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCBC, a Singapore-incorporated Bank which
produces consolidated financial statements available for public use. The registered
office of OCBC where the consclidated financial statements can be obtained is as
follows: 83 Chulia Street, #10-00 OCBC Cantre East, Singapore 049514,

Revenue
(a) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the
effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset or amortised cost of the financial liability.

14



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.2

23

Material accounting policy information {continued)

Revenue (continued)

(a)

Interest income and expense (continued)

In calculating the interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not
credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liahility. However, for financial
assets that have became credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Fee and commission income and expense

Fees and commissicns are earned from a range of services rendered to its
customers. Fees and commissions are recognised when performance
obligations to provide the services to the customer has been satisfied.
Transaction based fees and commissions are generally recognised upon
the completion of a transaction. For services provided over a period of time
or credit risk undertaken, fees and commissions are amortised over the
relevant period.

Expenses are offset against gross fees and commissions in the income
statement only when they are directly related.

Group accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Bank has control. The Bank controls an entity when the Bank is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses in the balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the
investments are recognised in profit or loss.

15



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.

2.3

2.4

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Group accounting {continued)

(b)

Acquisitions

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations entered intc by the Bank.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business
comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Bank. The consideration transferred also
includes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing
equity interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Bank recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (ii) fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill,

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost
that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The projected cost of dismantlement, removal or restoration is recognised as part
of the cost of property, plant and equipment if such obligation is incurred either when
the item is acquired or as a consequence of using the asset during & particular
period.




BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.4

2.5

2.6

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property, plant and eguipment (continued)

Subseguent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already
been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance
expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable
amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Useful lives
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5to 10 years
Computers 3to 10 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property,
plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance

sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income when the changes arise.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the
disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income,

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses, represents the excess of
(i) the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisifion-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over (i) the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.
Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately on the balance sheet and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets

Customer relationships and core deposits

Customer relationships and core deposits acquired by the Bank, which have finite
useful lives, are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These cost are
amortised to the statement of comprehensive income using the straight-line method
over 10 years, which Is their estimated useful lives.

The amortisation period and amortisation method of intangible assets are reviewed
at least at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income when the changes arise.

17



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.

2.7

Material accounting pelicy information (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may
be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to
the Bank as one cash generating unit ("CGU").

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of the CGU,
inciuding the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU. The
recoverable amount of the CGU is the higher of the CGU's fair value less
cost to sell and its value-in-use.

The total impairment loss of the CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the
CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.

An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Subsidiaries, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective
gvidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the
higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined
on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows
that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case,
the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

18



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount,

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is
recognised as an impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive
income.

For an asset other than goodwill, management assesses at the end of the
reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment
recognised in prior pericds may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of that asset is estimated
and may result in a reversal of impairment loss. The carrying amount of this
asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined {net of any accumuiated amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years,

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.8 Financial asseis

(a)

Clagsification and measurement

The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following measurement
categories:

+ Amortised cost;
e Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); and
» Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

The classification depends on the Bank's business model for managing the
financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal
and interest.
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2.

2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(2)

Classification and measurement {continued)

At initial recognition

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly affributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the
following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

» the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

» the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

» the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flow and selling financial assets; and

¢ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are SPPI.

Equity investments at FVQOC/

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the
Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in
the statement of comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
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2,

2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(@)

Classification and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that ctherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI| as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business mode! assessment

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in
which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed, and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

+ the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of
those policies in practice. In particular, whether management's strategy
focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash
flows through the sale of the assets;

« how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the
Bank's management;

» the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the
financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy of how
those risks are managed;

¢ how managers of the business are compensated {e.g. whether
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the
contractual cash flows collected); and

» the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity. However,
information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part
of an overail assessment of how the Bank's stated objective for managing
the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is
evaluated or managed on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL
because they are neither within the business model to hold the assets to
collect contractual cash flows, nor within the business model to hold the
financial assets both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell.
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2.

2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

(a)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value
of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount cutstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.

[n assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment,
the Bank considers:

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified asseis (e.g.
non-recourse loans); and

s features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g.
periodical reset of interest rates).

At subseguent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is
subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or
impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest
income using the effective interest rate method.
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2.

2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

(a)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

At subsequent measurement (continued)

Debt investments at FVOC!

Debt investments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are
recognised in other comprehensive income (*OCI”} and accumulated in fair
value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in "other gains
and losses”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest rate method and presented in “interest income”.

Equity investments at FVQOC!

The Group has elected to recognise changes in fair value of equity securities
not held for trading in OCI as these are strategic investments and the Group
considers this to be more relevant. Movements in fair values of investments
classified as FVOCI| are presented as “Net gain on equity investments at
FVOCI, net of tax” in OCI. Dividends from equity investments are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income as “dividend income”.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet
the criteria for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are classified as
FVTPL, Movement in fair values and interest income is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it arises,

Reclassification
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition,

except in the period after the Bank changes its business madel for managing
financial assets.
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2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

(b)

Financial assets (continued)

Recognition and dereceognition

Loans and advances and deposits are recognised on the date they originate.
All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales
of financial assets) are recognised on trade date — the date on which the
Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the
asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCl is recognised in
profit or loss.

On disposal of a debt investment, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Any amount previously recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying
amount and sales proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no
election made to recognise fair value changes in other comprehensive
income. If there was an election made, any difference between the carrying
amount and sales proceed amount would be recognised in other
comprehensive income and transferred ta retained profits along with the
amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that asset. Any interest in fransferred financial assets that qualify for
derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised as a
separate asset or liability.
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2.

2.8

Material accounting policy infermation {continued)

Financial assets (continued)

()

Muodification of financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank evaluates
whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In
this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial
asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

» Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset
and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible fransaction costs are
Included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

+ Otherfees are included in statement of comprehensive income as part of
the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then
the objective of the maodification is usually to maximise recovery of the
criginal contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with
substantially different terms.

If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in
forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the
asset should be written off before the modification takes place (see Note 2.8
(d) for impairment policy). This approach impacts the result of the
quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not
usually met in such cases.

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOC!
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the
ariginal effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in statement of comprehensive
income. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate
used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusled to reflect current
market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and
fees received as part of the madification adjust the gross carrying amount of
the madified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of
the modified financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the
borrower, then the gain or ioss is presented together with impairment losses.
In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method.
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2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets {(continued)

(d)

Impairment

Under FRS 108, the expected loss model is applied to financial assets
classified as amortised cost or debt investments at FVOCI, except for equity
investments at FVQOCI, and certain off-balance sheet loan commitments and
financial guarantees which were previously provided for under FRS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assels.

Expected credit loss ("ECL") impairment model

Under FRS 109, credit ioss allowances are measured on each reporting
date according to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model:

« Stage 1 — On initial recognition and at a subsequent reporing date,
where there is no significant increase in credit risk, the expected credit
loss will be that resulting from default events that are possible over the
next 12 months (*12-month ECL").

s Stage 2 — When there is a significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition, the expected credit loss will be that resulting from
default events that are possible over the expected life of the asset
(“Lifetime ECL").

« Stage 3 - When a financial asset exhibits objective evidence of
impairment and is considered to be credit-impaired, the credit loss
allowance will be the full lifetime expected credit loss (“Lifetime ECL").

Measurement

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are
measured based on the cash shortfalls as elaborated below:

(@) Financial assets that are not credit-impaired (Stage 1 and Stage 2) at
the reporting date: The present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the cash
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract less the cash flows
that the Bank expects to receive);

(b) Financial assets that are credit-impaired (Stage 3) at the reporting date:
The gross carrying amount less the present value of cash flows that the
Bank expects to receive;

(¢) Undrawn loan commitments: The contractual cash flows that are due to
the Bank if the commitment is drawn down less the cash flows that the
Bank expects to receive; and

(d) Financial guarantiee contracts: The expected payments to reimburse the
holder iess any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.
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2.8

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment (continued)
Measurement {continued)

The key inputs used in the measurement of ECL are:

s Probability of default ("PD") — This is an estimate {(as a percentage) of
the likelihood of default over a time period such as one year or the
exposure's expected life time.

» Loss given default ("LGD") — This is an estimate (as a percentage) of the
loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the Bank would expect to
receive, including from any collateral.

» Exposure at default (“EAD”) — This is an estimate (as an amount) of the
exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes
in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of
principal and interest as well as expected drawdowns on committed
facilities.

For Stage 1 exposure, ECL is calculated by multiplying 12-month PD by
LGD and EAD. For Stage 2 and Stage 3 exposures, ECL is calculated by
multiplying lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

Loans to customers that are collectively assessed are grouped on the basis
of shared credit risk characteristics such as loan type, industry, geographical
tocation of the borrower, collateral type and other relevant factors

All key inputs (PD, LGD and EAD) used to estimate Stage 1 and Stage 2
credit loss allowances are modelled based on three macroeconomic
scenarios (or changes in macroeconomic variables) that are most closely
correlated with credit losses in the relevant porifolio.

The three macroeconomic scenarios represent a most likely "Base”
outcome, and two other less likely “Upside” and "Downside” scenarios.
These scenarios are probability-weighted and underlying key
macroeconomic assumptions are based on independent external and in-
house views. The assumptions are subject to regular management reviews
to reflect current economic situations.

Each macreeconomic scenario used in the expected credit loss calculation
includes a projection of all relevant macroeconomic variables used in the
models for the lifetime period, reverting to long-run averages generally after
3 to 5 year periods. Depending on their usage in the models,
macroeconomic variables are projected at a country or more granular level
which differ by portfolio. The primary macroeconomic variables adopted are
Gross Domestic Product, Unemployment rate, Property Price Index and
Interest rate.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment (continued)
Measurement (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Default definition

An obligor is recognised to be in default when evidenced by either of the
following:

* when the obligor is unlikely to rectify any margin excess immediately
when the net asset value of collateral portfolio is in negative position; or

» when the obligor is unlikely to repay in full its credit obligations, without
recourse by the Bank to actions, such as realising the collateral; or

» days past due for more than 90 days

A financial asset is considered to be no longer in default when there is an
established trend of credit improvement, supported by an assessment of the
borrower's repayment capabhility, cash flows and financial position.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off against their related impairment allowances
when all feasible recovery actions have been exhausted or when the
recovery prospects are considered remote.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d)

Impairment {continued)
Movements between Stages

Movements between Stage 1 and Stage 2 are based on whether an
instrument’s credit risk as at the reporting date has increased significantly
since its initial recognition.

The Bank considers both qualitative and quantitative parameters in the
assessment of whether this is a significant increase in credit risk. These
include the following:

(a) The Bank has established thresholds for significant increases in credit
risk based on both a relative and absclute change in lifetime PD relative
to initial recognition;

(b) The Bank conducts qualitative assessment to ascertain if there has been
significant increase in credit risk; and

(c) The Bank uses 30 days past due as a further indication of significant
increase in credit risk.

Movements between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are based on whether financial
assets are credit-impaired as at the reporting date. The determination of
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired under FRS 109 will be based on
objective evidence of impairment.

The assessments for a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and credit-impairment are performed independently as at each
reporting period. Assets can move in both directions through the stages of
the impairment model. After a financial asset has migrated to Stage 2, ifitis
no longer considered that credit risk has significantly increased relative to
initial recognition in a subsequent reporting period, it will move back to Stage
1. Similarly, an asset that is in Stage 3 will move back to Stage 2 if it is no
longer considered to be credit-impaired.

A maodification of the terms of a financial asset that does not result in
derecognition will result in the financial asset being transferred out of Stage
3 if the indicators of it being identified as credit-impaired is na longer met
and that the evidence for its transfer out of Stage 3 solely relates to events
such as up-to-date and timely payment occurring in the subsequent periods.

If a modified financial asset results in derecognition, the new financial asset
will be recognised under Stage 1, unless it is assessed o be credit-impaired
at the time of the modification.
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2.8

2.9

2,10

2.11

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment (continued)
Regulatory framework

Under the revised MAS 612 Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning ("MAS
612") requirement, the Bank has the option to maintain a minimum
regulatory loss allowance ("MRLA") of 1% of the gross carrying amount of
selected credit exposures, net of collaterals. Where the accounting loss
allowance of selected non-credit-impaired exposures computed under FRS
109 is less than the MRLA, the Bank shall maintain the difference in a non-
distributable regulatory loss allowance reserve ("RLAR") account through
the appropriation of accumulated profits. Where the aggregated accounting
loss allowance and RLAR exceeds the MRLA, the Bank may transfer the
excess amount in the RLAR to retained earnings,

Derivative financial instruments

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date
the contract is entered into and is subsequently carried at its fair value. Changes in
its fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Qffsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under
FRSs, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Bank’s trading activity.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accerdance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. These financial guarantees are given to other parties such as
other banks and financial institutions, on behalf of customers to secure loans,
overdrafts and other banking facilities.
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2.1

212

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial guarantees (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs and subsequently measured at the higher of;

(a) amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of FRS 115, and ‘

(b) the amount of expected loss allowance computed using impairment
methodology under FRS 1089.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, are
initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently
carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled, or have expired.

Modification of financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
consideration paid is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then
the amortised cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash
flows at the original effective interest rate and the resuiting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate
used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market
terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised
as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial lability by re-computing the effective
interest rate on the instrument.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases

When the Bank is a lessee

At the inception of the contract, the Bank assesses if the contract contains a lease.
A contract contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Reassessment is
only required when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

Right-of-use assels

The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date which the
underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
which comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives
received. Any initial direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had
not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-
of-use asset or the end of the lease term.

Right-of-use assets are presented within “Property, plant and equipment” in the
balance sheet.

Lease liabilities

The Initial measurement of a lease liability is measured at the present vaiue of the
lease payments discounted using the implicit rate implicit in the lease, if the rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank shall
use its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Lease liability shall be remeasured when:

- There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index
or rate;

- There is a change in the Company’s assessment of whether it will exercise an
extension option; or

- There are modifications in the scope or the consideration of the lease that were
not part of the original terms.

Lease liability is remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

32



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.13

2.14

Material accounting policy information {continued}

Leases (continued)

Lease [iabilities (continued)

Lease liabilities are presented within “Other liabilities” in the balance sheet.
Short-term and low-value leases

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases that have lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value leases. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount
expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacied or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the balance sheet.

Deferred income tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences:

 Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction;

s Temporary differences related to invesiments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint arrangements to the extent that the Bank is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the timing difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future; and

+ Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance shest date.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against the temporary differences can be utilised.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or expense in the profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.
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2.15

2,16

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Provisions

Provisions for other liabilities and legal claims are recognised when the Bank has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount has been reliably estimated.

Employee compensation

Compensation package for staff consists of base salaries, allowances, defined
contribution plans such as the Central Provident Fund (*CPF"), defined benefit
plans, commissions, cash bonuses, and share-based compensation plans. These
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred, unless
the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset and share-based compensation is
recognised over the vesting period of the grant, with corresponding amount due to
the holding company. Employee leave entitlements are estimated according fo the
terms of employment contract and accrued on balance sheet date.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Bank
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity such as the CPF on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Bank has no further payment obligations once
the contribution have been paid, Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the statement of
comprehensive income in the periods during which services are rendered by
employees.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined
contribution plan. The Bank's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is
calculated separately for each plan hy estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods;
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of any plan
assets is deducted.

The Bank determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obiigation at the beginning of the annual pericd to the net defined
benefit liability (asset).
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2.16

Material accounting policy information {continued)

Employee compensation {continued)

Defined benefif plan (continued)

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a credit rating
of at least AA that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Bank's
obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits are
expected to be paid. Credit rating of at ieast AA is defined where obligor's capacity
to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Bank, the recognised
asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In
order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to
any minimum funding requirements that apply to any planin the Bank. An economic
benefit is available to the Bank if it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on
settlement of the plan iiabilities.

Remeasurements from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if
any, excluding interest}. The Bank recognises them immediately in other
comprehensive income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in
employee benefits expense in statement of comprehensive income.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of
the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the gain or loss on
curtailment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the plan amendment
or curtailment occurs. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of
a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

The gain or loss on settlement is the difference between the present value of the
defined benefit obligation being settled as determined on the date of settlement and
the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made
directly by the Bank in connection with the settlement.

Share-based compensation plans

Share-based compensation plans include the holding company’s Employee Share
Purchase ("ESP") Plan and Deferred Share Plan (*DSP”). Equity instruments
granted are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income
based on the fair value of the equity instrument at the date of the grant. The expense
is recognised over the vesting period of the grant, with corresponding entries to the
amounts due to the holding company.
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2.16

217

2.18

2.19

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Employee compensation (continued)

Share-based compensation plans {continued)

At each balance sheet date, the Bank revises its estimates of the number of equity
instruments expected to be vested, and the impact of the change of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to the amount due to the holding company over the
remaining vesting period.

Currency translation

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars ("US$"), which is
the functional currency of the Bank. All financial information presented in United
States Dollars have been rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated.

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currencies”)
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates as the date of
the transaction. Currency exchange differences resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the franslation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at historical cost are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include balances and placements with and loans to banks and amounts
due from holding company with a maturity of 3 months or less, repayable on
demand, money at call and on short notice which are subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account.
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2.20

2.21

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Dividends

Interim dividends on ordinary shares are recorded in the year in which they are
declared payable by the Board of Directors. Final dividends are recorded in the year
when the dividends are approved by the shareholder at the annual general meeting.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date that takes place in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects
its non-performance risk.

The Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that identical instrument held by another party. A market is
regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation
techniques that maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the
use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the
factars that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is
normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or
received). If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from
the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an
active market for an identical asset or liability {i.e. a Level 1 input) nor based on a
valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsegquently,
that difference is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation
is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
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2.21

2.22

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the
Bank measures assets and long positions at the bid price, and liabilities and short
positions at the ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities exposed to market risks and
credit risks that are managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either
market risks or credit risks are measured on the basis of the price that would be
received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for a
particular risk exposure.

Portfolio-level adjustments (e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that
reflect the measurement on the basis of the net exposure) are aliocated to the
individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the porifolio.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit)
is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that
the amount could be required to be paid.

The Bank recognises transfers befween levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the
balance sheet date during which the change has occurred.

The preparation of financial statements requires the Bank to make certain estimates
and to form judgements about the application of its accounting policies. The most
significant areas where estimates and judgements have been made are set out
below.

Prior year comparatives

Certain prior year comparatives have been reclassified to be consistent with current
year presentation.
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Impairment of qoodwill

The Bank performs an annual impairment review and whenever events or
circumstances that indicates more likely than not that an impairment may have
occurred by comparing the carrying amount of its goodwill against the recoverable
amounts of the CGU to which the goodwill has been allocated.

As disclosed in Note 11, the Bank uses valuation technigues such as value-in-use
to determine the recoverable amount. Value-in-use of the CGU is calculated based
on the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGU's continuing operations using the discounted cash flow method. Management

. exercises its judgement in estimating the future cash flows, growth rates and
discount rates used in determining the recoverable amounts of the CGU.

Impairment of financial asseils

A forward-looking expected credit loss impairment model is applied to financial
assets classified at amortised cost or FVOCI. The Bank exercises judgement in
determining the key assumptions in the expected credit loss impairment model
including the incorporation of forward looking information and determination of
significant increase In credit risk of financial assets since initial recognition based
on criteria described in Note 2.8. In addition, in determination of whether a financial
asset is credit impaired, the Bank also exercises judgement in assessing the
existence of objective evidence of impairment.

4. Net interest income

Interest income comprises interest arising from balances and placements with and
loans to banks, amount due from holding company, amount due from related
companies, loans and advances to non-bank customers and other investments,
Interest income on these financial assets that are classified as amortised cost or
FVOCI are calculated using the effective interest method.
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Net interest income (continued)

Interest expense comprises interest incurred on deposits of non-bank customers,
deposits and balances of banks, amount due to holding company, amount due to

related companies and others.

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
The breakdown of interest income is as follows:
- Holding company 1,065 916
- Others 710 847
1,775 1,763
The breakdown of interest expense is as follows:
- Holding company 37 34
- Related companies 1 1
- Others* 1,216 1,152
1,254 1,187
Net interest income 521 576

* Included in 'Others’ is interest expense arising from the lease liabilities

undertaken by the Bank.

Net fee and commission income

2024 2023

US$ million US$ million
Portfolio and other management fees 110 114
Custedian and trust fees 50 53
Brokerage fees income 216 164
Other fees income ' 67 58
Fee and commission income 443 389
Brokerage and custody fees 23 23
Commission expense 87 77
Other fees expenses 3 6
Fee and commission expense 118 106
Net fee and commission income 325 283
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8.

Net trading income

Foreign exchange

Equity
Staff costs

Note
Wages, salaries and bonuses
Contributions to defined contribution plans
Contributions to share-based compensation

plans 26

Defined benefit plan 27(iD)

Others

Other operating expenses

Recharge of expenses by holding and other related

companiest"!

Advertising and marketing

Other taxes and duties

Communication and information technology

Lease expenses relating to short-term leases

Travel and hotel expenses

Professional fees

Maintenance and hire of property, plant and
equipment

Others

2024 2023
US$ million USS million
157 160
62 41
219 201
2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
404 395
20 20
1 1
# #
24 26
449 442
2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
92 94
13 9
9 9
19 20
3 4
7 7
24 15
1 3
15 14
183 175

("} Included in the recharge of expenses by holding company is an amount of US$11
million (2023: US$10 million) relating to rental of premises.
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9.

Income tax expense
Note 2024 2023
US$ million US$ million

Current income tax expense

Current year 53 60
Under/(Over)provision in prior years # (3)
53 57

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary

differences 24 # #
Total income tax expense 53 57

The tax on profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the Singapore standard rate of income tax as follows:

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
Profit before income tax 378 414
Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17%

(2023: 17%) 64 70
Effect of concessionary tax rate at 13.5%* (10) - {9
Effect of different tax rates in overseas branches (1) {1
Under/(Over)provision in prior years # (3)
Non-deductible expenses 2 2
Others (2) (2)

53 57

* The Bank’s profit derived from certain Financial Sector Incentive activities are
subject to income tax at a concessionary tax rate of 13.5% (FY2023: 13.5%)
under Section 43J of the Income Tax Act.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development {"OECD") Piilar
Two Model Rules

The Bank is part of Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited and its
subsidiaries, a multinational enterprise group that is within the scope of the
Qrganisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD™) Pillar Two
model rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted in Singapore, the jurisdiction in
which the Bank is incorporated, and came into effect from 1 January 2025.

The Bank applies the FRS 12 exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes.

The Bank does not have any exposure to Pillar Two legislation as at 31 December
2024,

Based on management's assessment, the Bank does not expect any material
impact from exposure to Pillar Two legislation in the financial year 2025.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
Property, plant and equipment 106 97
Right-of-use assets 47 56
153 153
Property, pfant and equipment
Leasehold  Furniture and Computers and
improvements fittings others Total
Us$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million
Cost
At 1 January 2024 30 8 196 232
Additions # 1 38 39
Disposals/written-off (3) {1 # {4)
At 31 December 2024 L 27 6 234 267
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 24 6 105 135
Depreciation charge for the year 2 # 28 30
Disposalsiwritten-off (3) {1 ) (4
At 31 December 2024 23 133 161
Carrying amounts |
At 31 December 2024 4 1 101 108
Cost
At 1 January 2023 35 6 158 199
Additions # 1 38 39
Disposalsiwritten-off (5) {1 #) {6)
At 31 December 2023 30 6 196 232
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 28 6 86 120
Depreciation charge for the year 1 1 19 21
Disposals/written-off (5) {1) () (8)
At 31 December 2023 24 B 105 135
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023 B 1 90 97
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10, Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Cost
At 1 January 2024
Additions

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2024

Depreciation charge for the year

Carrying amounts

Balance as at 31 December 2024

Cost

At 1 January 2023
Additions
Termination of lease

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2023

Depreciation charge for the year

Termination of lease

Carrying amounts

Balance as at 31 December 2023

1. Goodwill

At 1 January and 31 December

Property
US$ million

106

#
106

50

a
59
47
79
28

106

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million

168 168
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11.

Goodwill (continued)
Impairment test for goodwill

For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Bank which is identified as one
cash generating unit. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-
use calculations which applies a discounted cash flow model using cash flow
projections based on financia! budgets and forecasts approved by management
covering a five-year period. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections
are derived from the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital plus a reasonable risk
premium at the date of assessment. Cash flows beyond the fifth year are
extrapolated using the terminal growth rates (weighted average growth rate to
extrapolate cash flows beyond the projected years).

The terminal growth rate used does not exceed management's expectation of the
long term average growth rate of the industry and countries which the Bank
operates. The discount rate and terminal growth rate used is tabulated below.

2024 2023
% %

Discount rate 13.5 10.8
Terminal growth rate 2.0 2.0
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12.

Intangible assets

Cost
At 1 January 2024/31 December 2024

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2024

Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 December 2024

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024

Cost
At 1 January 2023/31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2023

Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 December 2023

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2023

Customer
relationships
and core
deposits
US$ million

59

42
8
48

11

59

36
6
42
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13. [nvestment in subsidiaries
2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
At 1 January 27 28
Disposal - (1
Less: Impairment of subsidiary {8) -
At 31 December 19 27
List of principal subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation/Principat
Name of subsidiaries place of business Effective equity
2024 2023
% %
BOS Trustee Limited Singapore 100 100
BOS Wealth Management Europe, S.A. Luxembourg 100 100
BOS3 Wealth Management Malaysia Berhad Malaysia 100 100

The principal activities of BOS Trustee Limited are those of frustees, executors,
administrators, receivers, attorneys and agents.

The principal activities of BOS Wealth Management Malaysia Berhad and BOS
Wealth Management Europe, S.A. are the provision of investment advisory
services.

The principal subsidiaries lisied above are audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Singapore and its network firms.

The Bank’s subsidiaries do not have significant restrictions on its ability to access
or use its assets and settle its liabilities other than those resulting from their
respective local statutory and regulatory requirements within which its subsidiaries
operate.
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14,

15.

Unconsolidated structured entities

Unconsolidated structured entities (“USE") refer to structured entities that are not
controlled by the Bank.

The Bank acts as the investment manager of the USE and earns a management
fee based on a fixed percentage of the aggregate value of the capital commitment
made by shareholders. it does not participate in capital contribution nor the profits
of the USE.

The following table summarises the Bank's interests in the USE:

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
Management fee earned # 1
Assets under management 1,309 712

Cash and balances with cenfral banks

2024 2023
Us$ million US$ million

Balances with Monetary Authority of Singapore

(“MAS") 139 134

Balances with Hong Kong Monetary Authority
("HKMA") 4 4
143 138

Balances with MAS include the mandatory minimum cash balance in compliance
with MAS Notice 758 which is not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day
operations.
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16. Balances and placements with and loans to banks

Note 2024 2023
US$% million US$ million

Gross balances and placements with and

lpans to banks 302 203
Less: loss allowances 18 {#) (#)
302 203

Included in balances and placements with and loans to banks are margin
receivables from third party brokers of approximately US$14 million {2023: US$17
million) and an amount of approximately US$288 million (2023; US$186 million)
which is repayable on demand or money at call, of which US$286 million (2023:
US$186 million) are cash balances which has been included in cash and cash
equivalents in the statement of cash flows.

17. Loans and advances to non-bank customers

Note 2024 2023
US$ million US$ million

Gross loans and advances to non-bank

customers 13,313 14,664
Less: loss allowances
- credit-impaired loans (4) (65)
- non credit-impaired loans (15) (9)
18 (18) (74)
13,294 14,590
18. Loss allowances (charge)/write-back

The loss allowances balance set out as follows:

Note 2024 2023
US$ million US$ million

Balances and placements with and loans to

banks 16 # #
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 17 19 74
Total loss allowances balance 19 74

49



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

18.

Loss allowances {(charge)/write-back (continued)

Movements of loss allowances are set out as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
US$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million

At 1 January 2024 9 # 65 74

Remeasurement 2 # 19 21

New financial assets originated or 89 1 1 91
purchased

Financial assets that have been (85) {1) {20) (108)
derecognised

Recognised in profit or loss 6 # # 6

Write-offs - - {83) (53)

interest recognised on impaired - - (B) (8)
loans

At 31 December 2024 15 # 4 19

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
USS million US$ millian  US$ million  US$ million

At 1 January 2023 12 # 60 72

Remeasurement (1 # # (1)

New financial assets originated or 73 # 1 74
purchased

Financial assets that have been {75} # (1) {786)
derecognised

Recognised in profit or loss (3) # # (3)

Write-offs - - (3) (3)

Interest recognised on impaired - - 8 8
loans

At 31 December 2023 9 # 65 74

There were insignificant movements between stages and in foreign exchange for
2024 and 2023.
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18. Loss allowances (charge)/write-back (continued)
The following tables set out information about the credit quality.

Balances and placements with and loans to banks

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

USS million USS million US$ million  USS million
Pass 206 25 - 231
Less: loss allowances (#) {#) - {#)
At 31 December 2024 206 25 - 231
Pass 203 # - 203
Less: loss allowances #) {#) - #)
At 31 December 2023 203 # - 203
Loans and advances to non-bank customers

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ million US$ million LUS3 million  US$ million
Pass 13,103 - - 13,103
Special mention - 161 - 161
Substandard - - 49 48
Less: loss allowances (14) (1 (4) (19)
At 31 December 2024 13,089 160 45 13,294
Pass 14,428 - - 14,428
Special mention - 129 - 129
Substandard - - 37 37
Doubtful - - 70 70
Less loss allowances (9) (#) (65) {74}
At 31 December 2023 14,419 129 42 14,590
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19.

20.

21.

Amounts due from/(to) holding company and related companies

The amounts due from/(to) holding company and related companies comprise
current account balances and placements with and borrowings from these entities,
including interest receivables or payables. The amounts due from holding company
and related companies include balances totalling approximately US$3 million (2023:
US$6 million), which are repayable on demand or money at call, and which have
been included in cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows.

Other investments

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
FVTPL financial assets:
- Unquoted debt securities™ # #
- Unguoted fund investment 1 2

FVQOCI financial assets:
- Other government securities 656 654
656 656

Other government securities relate to United States treasury bills held. The credit
quality of the treasury bills are of investment grade, indicating good capacity o meet
financial commitments with low credit risks by the obligor.

* Issued by holding company

Other assets
Note 2024 2023

US$ million US$ million
Interest receivabies 34 48
Income tax receivables 4 -
Sundry debtors 63 72
Physical precious metals 714 738
Security trade receivables 241 240
Defined benefit plan 27 # -
Others 27 43

1,083 1,141
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22.

Share capital, other equity instruments and other reserves

Share capital

2024 2023
No. of shares No. of shares
million Us$ million mitlion US$ million
Issued and fully-paid:
Ordinary shares 8977 986 977 998

The holders of ordinary shares are entitied to receive dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Bank. All
shares rank equally with regards to the Bank's residual assets. The ordinary shares
have no par value.

On 31 July 2024, the Bank declared an interim dividend of US$109 million (2023:
US$120 million) for the financial year ended 31 December 2024, which was paid on
23 September 2024.

At the annual general meeting to be held, a final tax-exempt dividend of US$105
million in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2024 will be proposed.
The dividends will be accounted for as a distribution in the 2025 financial statements
(2023 :US%$110 million which was paid on 14 June 2024).

Other equity instruments

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million

USD 200 million 4.75% non-cumulative perpetual
capital securities ("Capital Securities”) 200 200

The Capital Securities issued by the Bank on 11 December 2015 are non-
cumulative perpetual capital securities. They qualify as Additional Tier 1 Capital
under the MAS Notice on Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirements for Banks
incorporated in Singapore (“MAS Notice 8377). The Capital Securities can be written
down in whole or in part if the Bank is determined by MAS to be non-viable.

The Capital Securities may, subject to MAS approval, be redeemed at the option of
the Bank, at any time, for taxation reasons or if the Capital Securities would not
qualify as Additional Tier 1 capital or would not qualify as eligible capital in the
calculation of the capital adequacy ratio.
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22,

23.

24,

Share capital, other equity instruments and other reserves (continued)
Other equity instruments (continued)

The Capital Securities bear a fixed distribution rate of 4.75% per annum from the
issue date. The non-cumulative distributions may only be paid out of distributable
reserves semi-annually in June and December, unless cancelled by the Bank at its
option. The Capital Securities constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations,
ranking pari passu among themselves.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Bank made a distribution
of US$10 million to its equity holders (2023: US$10 million).

Other reserves
Other reserves of the Bank is mainly comprises of regulatory loss allowance reserve

(“RLAR"). RLAR is a regulatory loss allowance reserve set aside by the Bank in
accordance with MAS Notice 612 to maintain a minimum level of loss allowance

Deposits of non-bank customers

2024 2023
Us$ million US$ million
Current account 8,549 9,688
Fixed deposits 23,077 22,862
31,626 32,650

Deferred tax [iabilities, net

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legaily
enforceable right fo offset deferred income tax assets against deferred income tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

Note 2024 2023
US$ million  US$ million

At 1 January

olE o

6
Credited to profit or loss 9 # {
At 31 December 6

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)

Property, plant and equipment 6 7
Intangible assets 2 2
Others (2) 3)

6 6
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25,

Other liabilities

Accrued operating expenses
Interest payables

Defined benefit plan

Lease liabilities
Physical precious metals

Others

Note 2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
110 120
156 181
27 - 3
52 60
763 749
289 310
1,370 1,423

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and interest expense. Interest
expense incurred is charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the
lease term, which amounted to US$3 million (2023; US$3 million) for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024, as disclosed below.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis,
as disclosed in Note 2.13.

Non-cash changes
Princlpal Forelgn kY|
1 January and interest Interest exchange December
2024 payments Additions expense movement 2024
US$ miflion | US$ million | USS$ million | US$ million US$ million US$ million
Lease
lighilities 80 {10) - 3 {1) 52
Noen-cash changes
Principal and Foreign 31
1 January interest Interest exchange December
2023 paymenis Additions expense mevement 2023
US$ millicn US$ milion US$ million US$S million US$ million 1SS million
Lease
liabilities 40 (10) 28 3 M 60
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26,

Employee benefits
Share-based compensation plans
Employee Share Purchase (“ESP”) Plan

in July 2024, the OCBC Bank (the “Group”) launched its 19th offering of ESP Plan
for Group employees, which commenced on 1 September 2024 and will expire on
31 August 2026. Under the offering, the Bank granted rights to acquire 1,027,838
(2023: 1,147,749) ordinary shares in OCBGC Bank, The fair value of rights,
determined using the binomial valuation model was US$1 million (2023: US$1
million}.

2024 2023

Acquisition price (US$) 10.62 9.45

Share price (US$) 10.87 9.81
Expected volatility based on last 250 days historical

volatility as of acceptance date (%) 13.19 12.97

Risk-free rate based on 2-year swap rate (%) 2.83 3.36

Expected dividend yield (%) 6.54 4.91

Movements in the number of acquisition rights of the ESP Plan are as follows:

2024 2023
Number of Number of
acquisition Average acquisition Average
rights price rights price
At 1 January 2,028,455 2,090,991
Subscriptions 1,027,838 1,147,749
Forfeited/lapsed {191,925) (267,633)
Exercised (955,744) (942,652)
At 31 December 1,908,624 2,028,455
Share price US$9.92 US$9.31

At 31 December 2024, the weighted average remaining contractual life of
outstanding acquisition rights was 1.2 years (2023: 1.2 years).

Deferred Share Plan (“DSP”)

DSP aims to increase the performance-orientation and retention factor in
compensation packages of executives, and foster an ownership culture within the
Group. It also aligns the interests of executives with the sustained business
performance of the Group. Selected executives are eligible to participate in the
DSP. :
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26.

27.

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-hased compensation plans (continued)
Deferred Share Plan (“DSP”} (continued)

Half (50%) of the share awards will vest after two years with the remaining 50%
vesting at the end of three years in accordance with the guidelines established
under the DSP. Prior to the vesting date, the executives will not be accorded voting
rights for the shares.

During the year, 2,330,559 (2023: 3,069,014) deferred shares were released to
employees under the DSP. Total awards of 867,128 (2023: 1,284,180) ordinary
shares were granted and accepted by eligible executives under the DSP for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024. The fair value of the shares at grant date
was USH12 miilion (2023: US$16 million).

Defined benefit plan

These are plans applicable to staff located in the Manila Representative Office. The
Bank makes contribution to a non-contributory defined benefit plan that provides
retirement benefits for employees upon retirement. The plan entitles a retired
employee to receive a lump sum payment based on 150% of plan salary per year
of credited service. Annual contributions are paid to the fund at a rafe necessary to
adequately finance the accrued liabilities of the plan calculated.

Note 2024 2023
US$ million US$S million
Fair value of plan assets (i) (3) ¢))]
Present value of defined benefits obligations (i) 3 4
Total defined benefit plan {#) 3
() Fair value of plan assels
Plan assets comprise mainly fixed income securities.
Movement in fair value of plan assets are set out as follows:
2024 2023

US$ million  US$ million
2

Fair value of plan assets assumed
Exchange differences (
Contributions paid into the plan

Benefits paid/Return on plan assets

—

(3 =

()
1

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December
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27.

Defined benefit plan (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obfigations

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations is set out
as follows:

2024 2023
USS million  US$ million
Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 4 4
Exchange differences (1) -
Benefits paid/Remeasurements of defined
benefit obligation (#) (#
Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 3 4

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations (continued)

Expenses recognised in profit and loss mainly relate to payments under
obligations net off the return on plan assets.

Actuarial assumptions

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:

2024 2023

% %
Discount rate at 31 December 5.7% 6.25
Expected return on plan assets at 1 January 5.75 6.75
Future salary increases 4.00 4.00

Actuarial valuations are made based on information of current members of
the plan as follows:

2024 2023
Average annual plan salary (US$) 54,375 56,292
Average age 40.14 40.34
Average credited service 9.59 9.11
Average future working life years 14.37 14.39

As of the year end, the Bank Is expected to pay US$0.2 million (2023: US$3
million) in contributions to its defined benefit plan.
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28.

29,

Contingent liabilities

[n the normal course of its banking business, the Bank issues guarantees and
standby letters of credit. Guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make
specific payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument, while standby letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments fo

third parties on production of documents.

2024 2023
USS$ million  US$ million
Direct credit substitutes:
- Guarantees 33 35
- Standby letters of credit 315 387
348 422
Commitments
2024 2023
US$ million  US$ million
Undrawn credit lines and other commitments to
extend credit 41,826 44,130
Forward loans 1,991 109
43,817 44,230

Undrawn credit lines and other commitments to extend credit relate to ioans,
overdrafts, leverage loans and guarantee facilities. Drawdown of these credit lines
and commitments are subject to provision of adequate collaterals acceptable to the

Bank.

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank’s contractual commitments amounted to US$7

million (2023: US$8 million).
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30. Derivative financial instruments

The table below sets out the notional principal amounts, positive and negative fair
values of the Bank's outstanding derivative financial instruments at balance sheet
date. Positive and negative fair values represent the mark-to-market values of the
derivative contracts.

Notional
principal Positive fair ~ Negative
amounts values fair values
US$ million  US$ million US$ million
2024
Foreign exchange derivatives:
Spot and forward foreign exchange 16,145 194 187
Currency options 26,657 172 172
42,802 366 359
Equity derivatives:
Options 5,154 156 166
Interest rate derivatives:
Swaps 1,251 14 14
Options 81 # #
1,332 14 14
Commodity derivatives:
Precious metals — bought 1,043 5 15
Precious metals — sold 1,065 15 5
Commuodity options 8,271 101 101
10,369 121 121
59,657 857 650
2023
Foreign exchange derivatives:
Spot and forward foreign exchange 28,951 219 344
Currency options 32,605 160 160
61,5656 379 501
Equity derivatives:
Options 2,951 88 88
Interest rate derivatives:
Swaps 768 16 16
Options 44 # #
812 16 16
Commadity derivatives:
Precious metals — bought 522 7 2
Precious metals — sold 517 2 7
Commodity options 8,707 70 76
9,746 85 85
75,065 568 690
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30. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The below foreign exchange, equity, interest rate and commodity derivatives
include financial instruments entered into with the holding company:

Notional
principal Positive fair Negative fair
amounts values values
US$ million US$ million  US$ million
2024
Foreign exchange derivatives 20,711 134 227
Equity derivatives 2,577 5 151
Interest rate derivatives 666 11 3
Commodity derivatives 5,062 23 94
28,016 173 475
2023
Foreign exchange derivatives 32,886 140 359
Equity derivatives 1,475 3 85
Interest rate derivatives 4086 14 3
Commodity derivatives 4633 12 70
39,400 169 517

31. Related party transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related
to the Bank if the Bank has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or
exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Bank and the party are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.

Significant related party transactions have been disclosed throughout the financial
statements, except for the key management personnel compensation which is as
follows:
2024 2023
US$ million  US$ million
Key management personnel compensation:

- Short-term employee benefits 12 10
- Post-employment benefits # #
- Other long-term benefits 4 3

16 13

Compensation paid to key management personnel includes salaries, bonuses,
defined contribution plans, defined benefit plan, share-based compensation plans
and other benefits-in-kind. Key management personnel comprise members of the
Management Committee and directors of the Bank.
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32.

Financial risk management

Exposure to market, credit, liquidity and operational risks arise in the normal course
of the Bank’s business. Market risk includes foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk. The Bank has written risk management policies and guidelines which set out
its overall business strategies, its tolerance of risk and its general risk management
philosophy and has established processes to monitor and control the hedging of
transactions in a timely and accurate manner.

The Bank is in principle not involved in clean lending. All loans are fully secured.
Hence, collateral management next to assessment of borrower quality is essential.

Credit extensions to our private banking and wealth management clients are subject
to a comprehensive credit assessment, setting of limits, as well as continuous risk
monitoring. Joint approvals from the business and risk units also ensure objectivity
in credit extensions. Loan advance rates are dependent on the quality, liquidity, and
diversification of the collateral portfolio. Credit exposures that are secured by
marketable securities are subject to daily valuation and independent price
verification,

The Bank uses analytical tools to ensure that the value of securities collateral nearly
always remain higher than the ouistanding loan. Appropriate siress tests are
performed, and models used are subjected to independent validation.

Certain risk measures have been defined to reflect the risk appstite of the Bank.
The Board has approved certain limits which reflect the overall approved risk
appetite for the Bank. Risk management monitors to ensure that the risk exposures
are controlled and kept within the approved limits set by the Bank.

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of income and/or market value loss due to fluctuations
in factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and
commodity prices or their volatilities and correlations arising from banking
activities. The Bank’s market risk arises from customer-related businesses.
In principle, the Bank does not have proprietary trading book.

62



€9

0L6 61 vel 8 gz 0e ssiuedwod pajejal pue Suipjoy o} ang
059'2e 8L0'L eg Z8l'l 66.L'C 819'02 S.I2W0ISND YuEq-LoU Jo sysodaq
zog'oe GLG'L £ 174" €85 2,08l sejuedwos pajelal pue Buipjoy woy eng
085'7) 204 £19'c Liy'y gLyl 086't $18LLI0ISND }UBqg-UOU O SSOUBAPE PUR SUBOT
SL9)I }A9YsS sauejeq paloles
€202
199'y ELFl T96'L 7R 4 9z 88/ sejuedwod pajele) pue Bulpioy o0} ang
9z9'LE 996'G 1S 121 626’ er6'0e SIOWO}SNT JUEBG-UOU JO sysoda(]
681 '¥e aor'e L€ G/2 78l Gro'gl saluedwiod pajeral pue Bujpjoy woy sng
vez'cl TAN 788'¢c oze'l 8clLL STT'y $J8W0}SND HUBJ-UOU O} SSOUBADPE PUE SUBOT
sSWa}l Joays aouejeyq pajoe|os
¥zoe
uol|[iw uonwu uoljiiw uojpiw ol ol
$sn $sn $sn ¢sn $sn $sn
(elo0] sI2U10 4HO aMH aos asn

‘0JNg puUe Jejjoq ueKRnSNY ‘us A asaueder ‘punod Buips)s Ajuiew
spnppul SIBY10, Sway jesys saueeq pajasies Joj uomsod afueyoxs ub@lo) olew s jUeg SY) SSSLEUIWLINS Mojeq ajqel 8y L

YSU AoUBLng)

(e)

XS Joxuep

(panuijuod) juawabeuewu ¥s|t [eIoUBUI]

EA*>

¥202 18GUIeosq Lg papus 1esk jeioueur ot 104
SINFWILVIS TYIONVNId 3HL OL S310ON

Q3 LINIT FHOdVYINIS 40 MNVH



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (*IRRBB") is the risk of
potential loss of capital or reduction in earnings from adverse interest
rate movements that affect the banking book positions. The primary
goal of IRRBB management is to ensure that interest rate risk
exposures are consistent with the Bank's risk appetite and
maintained within the defined risk tolerances.

The Bank assesses IRRBB impact from the perspective of both
capital and earnings. Economic value of equity ("EVE") sensitivity
evaluates the potential impact on the net present value of banking
book positions, and net interest income (“NII") sensitivity estimates
the potential change in earnings over a one-year horizon under
various interest rate shock scenarios.

As at December 2024, the Bank’s EVE had the maximum simulated
reduction of US$24 million, (2023: US$4 million) under the
supervisory prescribed Short Rate Up* interest rate scenario. This
was primarily driven by the impact from loans, intragroup lending and
government securities holdings which would have a lower economic
value under a rising interest rate environment, partially offset by the
impact from deposits. For the Bank's NlI, the scenario with the most
adverse impact on net interest income was the Parallel Down?®
scenario, with a simulated decrease by US$45 million (2023: US$82
million). The lower NIl was due to reduced interest income from loans
and intragroup lending under a downward interest rate shock
scenario, partially offset by lower interest expense from deposits.

1 Short Rate Up scenario assumes yield curves short rates up while Paralle! Down scenario assumes
the vield curves to move parallel downward. Different shocks will be applied for different currencies
based on supervisory prescriptions (eg. Short Rate Up -~ 200bps Short for SGD and 300bps Short
for USD, while Parallel Down — 150bps for SGD and 200bps for USD),
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32.  Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managing the potential risk of financial loss resulting from the
failure of a customer or counterparty to seitie their financial and contractual
obligations to the Bank as and when they fall due.

Credit risk s constantly assessed, measured and managed in accordance
with the Bank’s Credit Risk Management policies. Limits are established for
each customer that has a credit facility from the Bank. The Bank typically
takes collateral to secure amounts due under credit facilities granted to its
customers. Collaterisation is also assessed specifically at a customer level.

Borrowing customers are classified as Pass, Special Mention, Substandard,
Doubtful and Loss, in accordance with MAS Notice 612. The Bank has an
established process for early identification of possible changes in the
creditworthiness of customers and takes corrective action as appropriate.
As part of the corrective action, the Bank may restructure facilities,
renegotiate loan terms, or as final resort, repossess collateral. Once facilities
have been restructured or renegotiated, accounts are reviewed regularly by
management to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are
likely to occur. These loans continue to be subjected to close monitoring for
identification of objective evidence of impairment and if considered to be
credit-impaired, assess the loss allowances required.
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32,

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral and other credit enhancements

The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk of
on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments, without taking
into account of any collateral held or cther credit enhancements. For on-
balance sheet assets, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying
amount. For contingent liahillties, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the
instruments issued are called upon. For commitments, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the lower of full amount of the advance value of
collaterals less total liabilities or undrawn credit facilities granted to
customers.

2024 2023
US$ million US$ million
Credit risk exposure of on-balance sheet

assets:
Cash and balances with central banks 143 138
Balances and placements with and loans to 302 203
banks
Loans and advances to non-bank customers 13,294 14,560
Due from holding and related companies 24,189 20,302
Derivative financial instruments 657 568
Other investments 656 656
Other assets 1,057 1,109
40,298 37,566
Credit risk exposure of off-balance sheet
items:
Contingent liabilities 348 422
Commitments 43,817 44,238
44,165 44,661
Total credit risk exposure 84,463 82,227
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 Decernber 2024

32,

Financial risk management (continued)

()

Credit risk {continued)
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposures by counterparty type are presented in the fable below:

Gross Net Gross Net
maximum maximum  maximum maximum
exposure  exposure exposure exposure

2024 2024 2023 2023
US$ million US$ million USH million US$ million

Individuals and corporates 55,724 - 59,279 -
Banks/financial institutions 28,085 28,085 22,294 22,294
Governments 654 654 654 654

84,463 28,739 82,227 22,948

The gross maximum exposure is before the effect of mitigation through the
use of master netting and collateral agreements. The exposures to
individuals and corporates are generally secured through the use of
collateral agreements and result in no net exposure to credit risk. Net
maximum exposure to banksf/financial institutions and Governments
represent clean loans for which the Bank does not take any collateral and
other credit enhancements to mitigate its credit risk less any allowances for
loans.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depends on the assessment of
the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the
acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as foliows:

Cash (deposits or current accounts)

Debt securities

Structured notes/mutual funds

Equities

Mortgages over properties

Charges over insurance policies

Banker's guarantees/standby letters of credit
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)

()

Credit risk {continued)

Credit quality per class of financial assets by geographical regions

MAS MNotice 612 requires the Bank to categorise credit facilities into

respective credit grades as follows:

2024

Asia

Pacific Rim

Europe

North America

Middle East

Others

Gross loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Loss allowances
Net loans and advances to
non-hank customers

Balances and placements
with and loans to banks

Contingent liabilities

Commitments

Total

2023

Asia

Pacific Rim

Europe

North America

Middle East

Others

Gross loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Loss allowances

Net loans and advances to
non-bank customers

Balances and placements
with and loans to banks

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

Total

Special

Pass mentien  Substandard  Doubtful Total
US$ millien  USH million USS million US$ million US$ million
6,684 g 12 - 6,705
49 - - - 49
532 134 3 - 697
2 - - - 2
903 5 - - a08
4,932 14 6 - 4,952
13,102 162 49 - 13,313
19
13,284
302 - - - 302
348 - - - 348
43,774 =] a4 - 43,817

T 57781
Special

Pass mention  Substandard  Doubtful Total
US$ million US$ million  US$ million  USS$ million  US$ million
7,367 53 9 - 7.429
57 - - - 57
772 3 12 - 815
2 - . - 2
931 8 - - 938
5,299 3ar 16 70 5422
14,428 129 37 70 14,664
74
14,580
203 - - - 203
422 - - - 422
44,102 68 43 26 44 239
59,454
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32,

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)
Leoans and advances to non-bank customers by industry:
2024 2023

US$ million US$ million
Analysed by industry

Manufacturing 48 47
Building and construction 292 391
General commerce 39 42
Transport, storage and communication 24 25
Business service 54 70

Financial institutions, investment and holding
companies 6,394 65,985
Professionals and individuals 6,450 7,088
Others 12 16
13,313 14,664

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
technigues used for estimating impairment

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition at each balance shest date. Determining whether an
increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the
financial instrument and the borrower.

Credit risks of a particular exposure Is deemed to have increased

significantly since initial recognition if they meet the following criteria:

e special mention;

e 30 days past due; or

e obligors who exhibits potential weaknesses, which may adversely affect
the repayment by the obligor at a future date, in meeting financial
obligations.
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32.

Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly (continued)

If there is evidence that theré is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument
returns to being measured as 12-month ECL.

Incorporation of forward locking inforrmation

The Bank incorporates forward-locking information into both the
assessments of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased
significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.

Pericdically, the Bank carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to
calibrate its determination of the upside and downside representative
scenarios. A comprehensive review is performed at least annually on the
design of the scenarios by a panel of experis that advises the Bank's senior
management.

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Techniques

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the following variables:
e Probability of default ("PD");

s loss given default ("LGD"); and

e Exposure at default (“EAD").

These parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models
as developed based on historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-
lcoking information.

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation at the time of default, either over the next 12 months (*12M PD"),
or over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime PD") of the obligation. PD estimates
are derived from PD models that incorporate both quantitative and
qualitative inputs, which are in turn derived from iniernal and external
compiled data,

72



BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32. Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Technigues (continued)

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss incurred during a default. LGD is
expressed as a percentage of loss per unit of exposure at the time of default
and represents an estimate of the economic loss in the event of the defaulit
of the counterparty. Factors in determining LGDs includes claim seniority,
availability and quality of collateral, legal enforceability processes in the
jurisdiction and industry of borrower and existing market conditions. They
are estimates at a certain date and are derived using statistical models.
These statistical models are developed using internally compiled data and
incorporate both quantitative and qualitative factors. The model outputs are
adjusted to reflect forward-looking information whenever appropriate.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank
derives the EAD based on the current exposure to the counterparty and
potential future exposure. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying
amount.

The ECL is determined by the PD, LGD and EAD for each individual
exposure. The ECLs are first determined by the product of these three
components, which are then adjusted to take into account forward-looking
information. The ECLs are finally discounted to the balance sheet date. The
discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate
or an approximation thereof.
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32

Financial risk management (continued)

(if)

(i}

Credit risk (continued)

Amount arising from expected credit losses: inputs, assumptions and
techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL — Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation
Techniques (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assels

At each balance sheet date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following

observable data:

o significant financial difficulty of the barrower or issuer;

e a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past
due;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the
Bank would not consider otherwise;

s it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

» the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficulties.

There are no other significant credit losses recognised except as disclosed
in Note 18.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to service its cash flow
obligations. Throughout the year, the Bank, in conjunction with the Group,
manages liquidity risk within the approved limits by a combination of positive
cash flow management, the maintenance of portfolios of high quality liquid
assets and diversification of its funding base through its holding company.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32. Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements

The following table is a summary of financial instruments for which carrying
amounts do not approximate fair value.

2024 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
US$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million
Financjal assets
Loans and advances to

non-bank customers 13,294 13,197 14,590 14,505
Amount due from holding
campany 24,185 24,619 20,291 20,728

Financlal liabllities
Deposits of non-bank

customers 31,626 31,610 32,650 32,625
Amount due to holding
company 4,637 4,626 877 870

Where possible, fair values of financial instruments have been estimated
using market prices. Where market prices are not available, values have
been estimated using quoted prices for financial instruments with similar
characteristics, or otherwise using suitable valuation techniques where
practicable to do so. The fair value information presented represents the
Bank’s hest estimate of those values and may be subject fo certain
assumptions and limitations. Although management has employed its best
judgement in the estimation of fair values, there is inevitably a significant
element of subjectivity involved in the calculations. The fair values presented
in the table set out above are at a specific date and may be significantly
different from the amounts which will be actually paid or received on the
maturity or settlement date.

The methodologies and assumptions used in estimating fair values for those
financial instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the
financial statements depend on the terms and risk characteristics of the
various instruments and include the following:

Financial instruments for which the carrying amount approximates fair
value

These financial instruments include balances with banks, government
securities, other investments, derivatives, call deposits by banks and non-
bank customers, interest receivables and payables, and short term amounts
due from and to holding company and related companies. The carrying
amount of these financial instruments is an approximation of the fair value
because they are either (i} carried at market vaiue, (i) short-term in nature
or reprice frequently, or (iii) are receivable or payable on demand.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32.

Financial risk management (continued)

()

Fair value measurements (continued)

Loans and advances to non-bank customers, amount due from holding
company and amount due from related companies

The fair value is principally estimated by discounting anticipated cash flows.
The discount rates applied are based on the current interest rates of similar
loans to borrowers with similar credit ratings.

Deposits of non-bank customers, amount due to holding company and
amount due to related companies

Fair value is calculated using discounted cash flow models, based on the
deposit type and its related maturity, applying either market rates, where
applicable, or current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining
maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

. Level 1 — inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical instruments

° Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are cbhservable either directly {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using:
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market
data.

. Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based
oh observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant
effect on the instrument's wvaluation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices or similar
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments,

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For
all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other
valuation techniques.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32,

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Other valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash
flow models comparison to similar instruments for which market observable
prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models and other
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other
premia Used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price
volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation technigues is to arrive at a fair value measurement
that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to
transfer the liability in an orderly transaction hetween market participants at
the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair
value of common and more simple financial instruments, like interest rate
and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little
management judgement and estimation. Observable prices and model
inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities,
exchange traded derivatives and simple over the counter derivatives like
interest rate swaps.

Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need
for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty
associated with determination of fair values. Availability of observable
market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and
is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the
financial markets.

However, where the Bank measures portfolios of financial assets and
financial liabilities on the basis of net exposures, it applies judgement in
determining appropriate portfolio level adjustments such as bid-ask spread.
Such adjustments are derived from observable bid-ask spreads for similar
instruments and adjusted for factor specific to the portfolio.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement
is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as
the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level
3 being the lowest).
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32.  Financial risk management (continued)
(iv)  Fair value measurements (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as
of the end of the balance sheet date during which the change has occurred.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the
end of the balance sheet date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurement is categorised. The amounts are based
on the values recognised in the balance sheet.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
uss Uss uss$ uss
million million million million

2024

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 20 436 201 657
Other investments 655 # 1 656
Total 675 436 202 1,313
Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 20 429 201 650
Total 20 429 201 650
2023

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 20 416 132 568
Other investments 654 # 2 656
Total 674 416 134 1,224
Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 22 538 132 690
Total 22 536 132 690
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32,

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Movement and assumptions used in Level 3 fair value

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 financial assets and
financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date;

Financial
assets at
FVTPL
USS millien
1 January 2024 134
Gain recognised in profit and loss, under "Net trading
income" 68
31 December 2024 202
Change in unrealised gain for assets held at the end of the
financial year included in profit or loss, under “Net trading
income” 68
Financial
assets at
FVTPL
US$ million
1 January 2023 138
Loss recognised in profit and loss, under "Net trading
income" S ) I
31 December 2023 134
Change in unrealised loss for assets held at the end of the
financial year included in profit or loss, under “Net trading
income” (4)
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32.

Financial risk management (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements (continued)

Movement and assumptions used in Level 3 fair value (continued)

1 January 2024

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
US$ million

132

Loss recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading

income"

31 December 2024

Change in fair value

1 January 2023

69
201

69

Financial
liabilities at
FVTPL
US$ million

137

Gain recognised in profit and loss, under “Net trading

income"

31 December 2023

Change in fair value

5
132

S )

The following table shows the Bank’s valuation technigue used in measuring
the financial assets in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable input

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs

Adjusted net assets Net asset value ("NAV") of the
financial assets

method

Option Pricing
model

Volatility/Correlation

The estimated fair value
would increase (decrease) if
the NAV of the financial
assets increased
{(decreased).

The estimated fair value
would increase {decrease) if
the volatility increased
{decreased).

Changing one or more of the inputs to reasonable alternative assumptions
would not change the value significantly for the financial assets in Level 3 of

the fair value hierarchy.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

32,

Financial risk management (continued)

(vi)

Offselting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below inciude financial assets and
financial liabilities that:

. are offset in the Bank's balance sheet position; or

. are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of
whether they are offset in the balance sheet.

The similar agreements include derivative clearing agreements, giobal
master repurchase agreements, and global master securities lending
agreements. Similar financial instruments include derivatives, sales and
repurchase agreements, reverse sale and repurchase agreements, and
securities barrowing and lending agreements. Financial instruments such as
loans and deposits are not disclosed in the tables below unless they are
offset in the balance sheet.

The Bank's derivative transactionis that are not transacted on an exchange
are entered into under International Derivatives Swaps and Dealers
Association ("ISDA") Master Netting Agreements. In general, under such
agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty that are due on a
single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the same currency
under the agreement are aggregated into a single net amount being payable
by one party to the other. In certain circumstances, for example when a
credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding transactions under the
agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a
single net amount is due or payable in settlement of all transaction.

The above ISDA and similar master netting arrangements do not meet the
criteria for offsetting in the balance sheet. This is because they create a
right of set-off of recognised amounts that is enforceable only following an
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparties.
In addition, the Bank and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net
basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The Bank places and receives collateral in the farm of cash margins in
respect of derivative transactions.

Such collateral is subject to the standard industry terms of ISDA Credit
Support Annex. This means that securities received/given as collateral can
be pledged or sold during the term of the transaction but must be returned
on maturity of the transaction. The terms also give each counterparty the
right to terminate the related transactions upon the counterparty’s failure to
post collateral.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

33. Authorisation of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resclution
of the Board of Directors of Bank of Singapore Limited on 14 February 2023.
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BANK OF SINGAPORE LIMITED

MAS NOTICE 608 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Capital

The main objectives of the Bank's capital management are to ensure the Bank complies
with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. The activities
are executed on the basis of established policies, guidelines and procedures.

The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using the rules and ratios established by
the Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS”) in supervising the Bank.

The Bank had complied with the minimum 8% and 10% for Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio
{"CAR") and Total CAR respectively required by MAS Notice 637 in 2024 and 2023.

2024 2023

US$ million US$ million

Tier 1 capital
Ordinary shares 996 996
Perpetual capital securities 200 200
Disclosed reserves 1,095 1,008
2,291 2,202
Tier 1 eligible capital 1,976 1,949
Tier 2 capital 1 1
Total eligible capital 1,977 1,850
Risk weighted assets 10,571 9,867
Tier 1 CAR 18.7% 19.8%
Total CAR 18.7% 19.8%

The supplementary information above does not form part of the financial statements.
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